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Attorneys for United States of America

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 7
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA LiEE

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
) C NoJl
Plaintiff, ) V (0 0 9 Y4
)
| V. ) COMPLAINT FOR FORFEITURE
APPROXIMATELY $750,680.00 IN )
UNITED STATES CURRENCY; )
APPROXIMATELY $27,387.00 IN )
UNITED STATES CURRENCY; )
$35,424.80 IN FUNDS FROM CHASE )
ACCOUNT,; and )
$6,300.00 IN FUNDS FROM CHASE )
ACCOUNT, )
)
Defendants. )
)
NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is a judicial forfeiture action, as authorized by 21 U.S.C. § 881(a)(6),
involving the seizure of defendant approximately $750,680.00 in United States Currency
(defendant $750,680.00), approximately $27,387.00 in United States Currency (defendant
$27,387.00), approximately $35,424 80 in funds from Chase Account (defendant $35,424.80),
and $6,300.00 in funds from Chase Account (defendant $6,300.00) that was seized as money

furnished or intended to be furnished by a person in exchange for a controlled substance, or
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money traceable to such an exchange, or money used or intended to be used to facilitate a

violation of Chapter 13, Subchapter I of Title 21 United States Code.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1345 and 1355(a), and 21 U.S.C.
§ 881(a)6).

3. This action is timely filed in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 983(a)(3)(A).

4. Venue in this Court is proper because defendants were seized in the
Northern District of California. 28 U.S.C. §§ 1355(b) and 1395.

PARTIES
5. Plaintiff is the United States of America.

6. Defendants are approximately $750,680.00 in United States Currency,
approximately $27,387.00 in United States Currency, approximately $35,424.80 in funds from
Chase Account, and $6,300.00 in funds from Chase Account (defendant $6,300.00).

FACTS

August 28, 2009 CHP traffic stop of Avery Badenhop

7. On or about August 28, 2009, at approximately 9:05 a.m., California Highway
Patrol (“CHP™) Officer Blankenship conducted a traffic stop of a Silver 2009 Nissan Altima
bearing California license plate 6GNB226 for exceeding the maximum speed limit. Officer
Blankenship observed the speeding violation as the Nissan was traveling on Interstate 580
Eastbound in Marin County.

8. After the Nissan came to stop, Officer Blankenship made contact with the driver of
the Nissan, later identified as Avery Badenhop. Upon contacting Mr. Badenhop, Officer
Blankenship smelled the odor of fresh marijuana emanating from the Nissan and observed Mr.
Badenhop smoking multiple cigarettes during the traffic stop in an apparent effort to mask the
smell of the marijuana in the car.

9. Officer Blankenship asked Mr. Badenhop if he had anything illegal in the car. Mr.
Badenhop replied that he did not. Officer Blankenship then asked Mr. Badenhop if he had any

Complaint for Forfeiture
No. 10- 2
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marijuana in the car and Badenhop replied, “yes, but no more that the amount I am legally
allowed to possess.” Badenhop then handed Officer Blankenship a container with three buds of
marijuana and some marijuana paraphernalia. After further inquiry by Officer Blankenship,
Badenhop then admitted that he had a little bit more.

10.  Upon being asked to exit the vehicle, Avery Badenhop made movements that
caused the officer to be concerned for his own safety and led the officer to detain and search
Badenhop for weapons. The officer then placed handcuffs on Badenhop, told him he was not
under arrest, and placed Badenhop in his patrol vehicle.

11.  Officer Blankenship then searched the Nissan for additional marijuana based on
Badenhop’s statement that he had a little bit more. Officer Blankenship found and seized the
following items inside the passenger compartment and trunk of the Nissan: twenty pounds of
processed marijuana packaged for sale in one pound quantities in plastics bags and another 24
grams of processed marijuana contained within a paper bag; 345 grams of concentrated cannabis
for sale in a one gram quantities in small plastic cubes; 100 grams of concenirated cannabis
packaged for sale in one gram quantities contained in small glass vials; 12 marijuana buds
packaged for sale in plastic bags; one calendar containing a drug ledger; and indicia, including an
expired marijuana recommendation from a physician for Badenhop, a current cannabis card for
Badenhop, and a receipt from Harborside Health Center documenting the sale of marijuana by
“AV” in the amount of $8,600 on 08/21/2009,

12. Officer Blankenship asked Badenhop if all the marijuana in the car was his;
Badenhop said it was. Officer Blankenship placed Badenhop under arrest for possession of
concentrated cannabis and advised him of rights. Officer Blankenship interviewed Badenhop at
the Marin County CHP office. Badenhop stated he was enroute to drop off marijuana to cannabis
clubs when stopped by the CHP, and he has been selling marijuana fo Berkeley Patients Group in
Berkeley, Harborside Health Center in Oakland, and Divinity Tree in San Francisco since 2006.
Badenhop sells each pound of processed marijuana for approximately $3,200.00 per pound, and

Badenhop sells the small plastic containers of concentrated cannabis for $15.00 each. Badenhop
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then told Officer Blankenship that he was growing all of his marijuana outside and that he did
not have any indoor marijuana grows. Badenhop also later told other officers that he had
approximately four pounds of marijuana in his garage and that there was not a large amount of
cash at his residence.

August 28, 2009 Search Warrant at 5 Kingswood Court, Petaluma, CA

13. On August 28, 2009, Officers from the Marin County Major Crimes Task Force
(“MCMCTF”) executed a state search warrant at 5 Kingswood Court Petaluma, CA. Avery
Badenhop’s wife, Jerri Badenhop, was the only person present at the time the search warrant was
executed. The following items were found and seized from the garage of the residence: 10
pounds of suspected marijuana packaged for sale in two pound quantities; 23 pounds of
suspected marijuana packaged for sale in one pound quantities; 184 grams of suspected
marijuana packaged and labeled in various quantities; two ziploc style baggies containing
marijuana shake; one vacuum sealer; two electronic scales; one deli-style digital scale; and
$2,000.00 in United States Currency (one hundred $20 bills).

14.  In the upstairs bedroom, near a walk-in closet, Officers located one of the two
safes found in the residence. Jerri Badenhop provided Officers with the combination to the safe.
In the safe, Officers found $98,680.00 in United States Currency (3,244 - $20 bills and 342 -
$100 bills), a Smith and Wesson .38 Special revolver, three boxes of .38 Special ammunition and
indicia and financial records belonging to Avery and Jerri Badenhop.

15. Officers located another safe in the attic connected to the walk-in closet. The safe
was opened by a locksmith and contained $650,000.00 in United States Currency (10,000 - $20
bills and 4,500 - $100 bills), a Browning 9mm Semi-Automatic Pistol, and 12 boxes of 9mm
ammunition. The currency seized from both safes and the currency seized from the garage
constitute defendant $750,680.00.

16.  Officers mirandized and interviewed Jerri Badenhop. She stated that her husband,
Avery Badenhop, made approximately $15,000.00 to $1 7,000.00 per month selling marijuana,
Mrs. Badenhop also stated that Avery Badenhop obtained some of his marijuana from two

marijuana grows in Petaluma, CA: one located at 58 Baker Court, 2 home she said was owned by
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her and her husband; and one located at 46 La Cresta Drive, a home she said was rented by her
and her husband. Mrs. Badenhop also told officers that the first safe {which contained
$98,680.00) contained approximately $35,000.00 in cash, which she had saved over the Jast six
years; and she told officers that she thought the second safe (which contained $650,000.00) was
“full of money,” and that the money came from “weed.”

August 28, 2009 search warrant at 46 La Cresta Drive, Petaluma, CA

7. On August 28, 2009, Officers from MCMCTF executed a state search warrant at
46 La Cresta Drive in Petaluma, CA. While waiting for the search warrant to be
signed, Officers went to the residence to freeze the scene, if necessary. Officers observed three
men at the residence, later identified as Harry Parker, Jeremy Kaltenbach, and Radek Stastny.
All three men were later arrested. Officers conducted a safety sweep of the residence and the
garage. While conducting the safety sweep, Officers observed materials and heard a noise
consistent with a marijuana grow located inside the garage. Officers observed an active
marijuana grow in the garage during the safety sweep.

18.  Once Officers obtained the state search warrant, Officers found and seized 100
mature marijuana plants, individually potted and ready for harvest, a calendar with a grow
schedule, and “grow certificates” in the names of Avery Badenhop, Jerri Badenhop, and Radek
Stastny for the years 2006 to 2008. In Radek Stastny’s bedroom, Officers located and seized the
following: 326 grams of suspected marijuana in plastic baggies; 183 grams of suspected hash
packaged in six ziploc style baggies; 400 plastic cubes that were similar to those found in the
Nissan during the CHP traffic stop of Avery Badenhop; $1000.00 in United States Currency
inside a brown bag; $15,000.00 United States Currency inside a brown paper bag; $1,240.00 in
United States Currency inside an envelope; and $10,147.00 in United States Cumrency inside an
envelope. Officers also found indicia in the name of Radek Stastny and Rachael E. Matthews.
The currency seized from Stastny’s room constitutes defendant $27,387.00.

19.  Officers mirandized and interviewed Mr. Stastny at the residence. Mr. Stastny
stated that he has lived at the residence for approximately two and a half months. Mr. Stastny

stated that the marijuana plants in the residence belonged to him. He also said the money
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belonged to him; he had been saving it for the last two ycars but has only worked two months
during the past two years and was not employed at the time Officers executed the search warrant,

20.  Officers also mirandized and interviewed Mr. Kaltenbach. Officers had previously
seized $5,000.00 in United States Currency from the pants pocket of Mr. Kaltenbach,
Kaltenbach said the money was not his, but he was going to use it to bail out Avery Badenhop.
Kaltenbach said that he did not grow marijuana himself, but obtained it from Avery Badenhop
and the men at 46 La Cresta Drive, He further stated that he lived at 117 Round Court in
Petaluma with his fiancee and that he had a marijuana grow at his mother’s residence at 1594
Eastman Lane in Petaluma that consisted of 50 to 100 marijjuana plants.

August 28, 2009, search warrant at 58 Baker Court, Petaluma, CA

21. On August 28, 2009, Officers from MCMCTF executed a state search warrant at 58
Baker Court, Petaluma, CA. Marc Herrnberger was the only person at the residence at the time
the search warrant was executed. Officers located an indoor marijuana grow on the ground floor
of the residence that contained 96 mature marijuana plants, approximately three feet tall. In the
closet next to the ground floor grow room Officers located three garbage bags and eight
individually packaged plastic bags contatning a large amount of loose marijuana leaves and
shake, six individually packaged bags of loose marijuana shake, and one triple beam scale. In the
kitchen, Officers found 106 grams of dried marijuana inside a plastic bag, 12 grams of marijuana
contained inside a jar, and indicia in the name of Marc Herrnberger, Avery Badenhop, and Radek
Stastny.

22, In an upstairs room, Officers located an additional grow room that contained 120
immature marijuana plants, that were each approximately one foot tall. The room also contained
grow lights, water tanks, timers and growing solution.

23.  Officers mirandized and interviewed Herrnberger. Hermberger said the Avery
Badenhop allows him to live at the residence in exchange for taking care of the marijuana grow.
Herrnberger admitted to tending the marfjuana grow for the last four months and that Avery
Badenhop comes to the house twice a month.

"
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August 29, 2009, search warrant at 117 Round Court, Petaluma, CA

24. On August 29, 2009, Officers from MCMCTF executed a state search warrant at A
117 Round Court in Petaluma, CA. This the residence Kaltenbach and his fiancée, Catalina Sala,
and her two small children also live at the residence and were present during the execution of the
search warrant.

25.  Officers found and seized 26 containers of marijuana seeds, 3.6 grams of
suspected hash in plastic containers, a Taurus .357 Magnum revolver, a Browning 9mm pistol, a
.22 Caliber revolver, $27,316.00 in United States Currency located in the bottom of a laundry
basket, and indicia in the namé of Kaltenbach. Sala told officers that she had moved the money
from the safe and placed it in the bottom of the laundry basket before opening the door for the
police. Sala also told Officers that Kaltenbach sold between five to 8 pounds of marijuana a
month and that some of the money was from the sale of marijuana.

August 29, 2009, consent search at 1594 Eastman Lane, Petaluma, CA

26. On August 29, 2009, the MCMCTF officers obtained written consent from
Jeremy Kaltenbach’s mother, Kathleen Hanna, to search the premises located at 1594 Eastman
Lane in Petaluma. Officers located indoor marijuana grows in a barn on the property and in a
water tower behind the main residence. The grow operation inside the barn consisted of 64
immature plants, each approximately one foot in height, grow lights, cultivation equipment and a
garbage bag containing loose marijuana leaves and shake. The grow operation in the water tower
consisted of 34 mature marijuana plants, approximately 4 feet in height, grow lights, cultivation
equipment and a grow schedule that reflected marijuana cultivation for approximately two years.

September 15, 2009 seizure of funds from two Chase Bank Accounts belonging to
Avery Badenhop and Jerri Badenhop

27.  On September 1, 2009, Detective Brovelli of MCMCTEF served a state seizure
order for funds in two Chase Bank accounts belonging to Avery and Jerri Badenhop. On
September 15, 2009, Detective Brovelli obtained two checks in the amount of $35,424.80 and
$6,300.00 from Chase Bank relating to the seizure order served on September 1, 2009.

Complaint for Forfeiture
No. 10- 7
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VIOLATION

28.  The United States incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs one
through 27 as though fully set forth.

29.  Section 881(a)(6) of Title 21 of the United States Code, provides for the forfeiture
of all money furnished or intended to be furnished by any person in exchange for a controlled
substance or listed chemical in violation of Subchapter I, Chapter 13 of Title 21 United States
Code, all proceeds traceable to such an exchange and all money used or intended to be used to
facilitate any violation of Subchapter I, Chapter 13 of Title 21 United States Code.

30. In light of the foregoing, defendant $750,680.00, defendant $27,3 87.00, defendant
$35,424.80, and defendant $6,300.00 are subject to judicial forfeiture.

* ¥ * # *

WHEREFORE, plaintiff United States of America requests that due process issue to
enforce the forfeiture of defendant $750,680.00, defendant $27,387.00, defendant $35,424.80,
and defendant $6,300.00; that notice be given to all interested parties to appear and show cause
why forfeiture should not be decreed; that Jjudgment of forfeiture be entered; that the Court enter
judgment forfeiting defendant $75 0,680.00, defendant $27,387.00, defendant §3 5,424.80, and
defendant $6,300.00; and that the United States be awarded such other relief as may be proper

and just,

Respectfully submitted,

JOSEPH P. RUSSONIELLO
United States Attorney

Dated: March < | 2010 Wivr-\ u:u

ARVON J. PERTEET
Special Ass1stant United States Attomey

Complaint for Forfeiture
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VERIFICATION

1, Todd Enger, state as follows:
1. I'am a Special Agent with the Drug Enforcement Administration, and I am the

case agent. As such, I am familiar with the facts, and the investigation leading to the filing of

this Complaint for Forfeiture.

2. I have read the Complaint and believe the allegations contained in it to be true.

* * * * * \
N

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed this
day of March 2010, at_Sex FToowcines | in California,

TODD ENGER

Special Agent
Drug Enforcement Administration

Complaint for Forfeiture
No. 10- 9
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ATTACHMENT A

APPROXIMATELY $750,680.00 IN UNITED STATES CURRENCY;
APPROXIMATELY $27,387.00 IN UNITED STATES CURRENCY;
$35,424.80 IN FUNDS FROM CHASE ACCOUNT; and

$6,300.00 IN FUNDS FROM CHASE ACCOUNT.



